

# Knights of Columbus Council 1684 September - October 2021

## Grand Knight's Report – August 11, 2021

Fellow brother Knights, it's with a fairly, humble heart that I write my first report to our council. I say, fairly, because humility is one of the most difficult virtues to cultivate, and for myself it's definitely work in progress.

So far, this has been a banner week for the Knight's. We had another great meeting on Wednesday evening, August 11, in Jacque's shop, and as mentioned in the minutes, there were six officers present as we dove into our discussions of upcoming events and opportunities. During that meeting I mentioned three Saints who have recently been important to me: St. Ignatius, St. John of the Cross, and St. Therese (Little Flower), but also important to me, who I left out at the meeting, Father Michael McGivney, whose feast day happens to be August 11! Inspired by this and by the fact that today the Knight's will be doing what we do best, working in service with our local Parish and BBQing for up to 125 people, joining together honoring those volunteers who helped the Old Mission get through the long painful period of the Virus pandemic. We should all be very thankful for the rock of our faith and the Church guiding us through safe protocols and good judgement to where we are today. Our best mission as Knights going forward is working to support our parishes and communities as we slowly find our new normal and return to our charitable work, but with a fresh purpose.

Saint Therese had many names, which she treasured to assume. Officially, St. Therese of the child Jesus, who Pope Benedict XV declared, practiced heroic faith, hope, love, and all other virtues, on August 14, 1921; proclaimed her Venerable, 100 years ago, tomorrow. I like the name, Therese of the Little Way. "La Petite Voie."

In honor of Father Michael McGivney, our founder's feast day, let us pray for his Canonization, as Apostle of Christian family life, Builder of Catholic Fraternity, and Exemplar of Charity.

Siempre Adelante! Viva Jesus!

Respectfully, WGK James Garland

#### Following are minutes of the last three General Meetings – June, July, August:

General Meeting of Council 1684, Wednesday, June 9, 2021

Call to Order:

- 1. Thirteen Officers and members (including District Deputy Chris Arnoult) were present during the Hybrid (Zoom/in-person) meeting when Grand Knight Hank Peterson called the May Council meeting to order at 6:35 p.m. The Grand Knight led the members in an opening prayer. A Quorum was achieved.
- 2. Old Business: Brother Jim Garland reported that the Scholarship Committee awarded the correct amount of cash to the first, second, and third place winners.
- 3. New and Continuing Business:
  - a. The Serra Pilgrimage is July 24-25 at Lookout Park in Summerland and possibly help at St. Joseph's Church in Carpinteria. Help with making dinner is requested. Walk-ons are welcome.
  - b. Officer Installation for Council 1684 will be held on June 26 at 4241 State Street in Brother Jacque Benoit's shop.

(Continued Page 2)

Following is list of officers for 2021-2022:

6		
Grand Knight	Jim Garland	
Deputy Grand Knight	Dr. Jacques Benoit	
Chancellor	Brian Simolon	
Financial Secretary	Steven Romofsky	
Treasurer	Bruce García	
Warden	Chris Fernandes	
Inside Guard	Brian Regan	
Outside Guard	Mitchell Molitor	
Recorder	Al Anglin	

c. Budget discussion and vote: The Recorder did not have a copy of the previous budget or the Proposed Budget. There was an estimated income of \$44,690. After discussion, the budget was unanimously passed, and the meeting adjourned. After reconvening, the second reading of the budget was further discussed, and the proposed Budget passed the second vote and is adopted.

4. Good of the Order:

a. Brother Jim Garland spoke about the Marian Eucharistic Conference organized by Cindy Hogan at Holy Cross Church August 20-21. Speakers will include Fr. Rick Wendell, Paul Zucarelli, and John La Briola.
b. Prayers were requested for Brother Chris's daughter.

Following the closing prayer, the meeting adjourned at 7:20 p.m. Respectfully submitted, *Al Anglin* Recorder

General Meeting of Council 1684, Wednesday, July 14, 2021:

Call to Order:

- 1. Seven Officers and members were present during the meeting when Worthy Grand Knight Jim Garland called the July Council meeting to order at 6:35 p.m. Also in attendance was Fr. Dan Lackie, Pastor of Old Mission Santa Barbara, who led the Council in an opening prayer.
- 2. Minutes and Old Business:
  - a. The Recorder read the Minutes of the June Council meeting.
  - b. The Officer Installation was reviewed all Officers were installed.
  - c. Worthy Grand Knight Jim Garland reviewed the Deanery dinner/BBQ.
- 3. Announcements:
  - a. The Serra Pilgrimage is scheduled for July 24 and 25<sup>th</sup> in Lookout Park where there will be a barbeque for Pilgrims at 1:00 p.m. For those completing the walk for Old Mission Santa Barbara. Knights are asked to help with serving and setting up tables and chairs at about 10 a.m.
  - b. The Old Mission is having "Beers at Dusk" on the grounds of the Mission and looking for people to sponsor a table for this event benefitting the Old Mission. Please plan to attend
  - c. There be a BBQ for the Old Mission August 13<sup>th</sup> at 6 p.m. Fr. Dan is hoping for 125 guests.
  - d. A Eucharistic Congress retreat is being held at Holy Cross Church August 20<sup>th</sup> and 21<sup>st</sup>. Knights might have a call out for the Fourth Degree and possibly prepare a lunch. Please consider assisting this effort.

4. Other Business:

The Council received many thankyous for the Clergy Appreciation project – (Attachment was submitted to attendees). All the Religious in our area received a letter from Council 1684 and \$25 check thanking them for their service and dedication in promoting our Catholic faith.

- 5. Financial Report: This report will be given at the next Council meeting.
- 6. Good of the Order:
  - a. Brother Steve Romofsky shared what he knew of Brother Mark Wietstock's new life in Idaho. Apparently, they are loving their new home and community.
  - b. Brother Bruce García is trying hard to fill several vacancies in the "Hour of Adoration" at the Poor Clare's Chapel. Please assist him by volunteering (805-886-2506) for this very important act of Faith.

(Continued on Page 3)

- c. Brother (Dr.) Jacques Benoit admonished the Council that this Covid emergency is not over yet. The new strains of the virus spread more easily and are more virulent. They can also mutate into new strains that are unpredictable. Do not let your guard down by thinking that Covid is only a thing in the rearview mirror.
- d. WGK Jim Garland asked for prayers for his friend Paul Murphy who is suffering from cancer and pneumonia.

Following the closing prayer, WGK Jim Garland adjourned the meeting at 7:58p.m. Respectfully submitted, *Al Anglin* Recorder

General Meeting of Council 1684, Wednesday, August 11, 2021

Call to Order:

- 1. Six officers and members were present when Worthy Grand Knight Jim Garland called the August meeting of Council 1684 to order at 6:37 p.m. The Grand Knight led the members in an opening prayer.
- 2. Minutes and Old Business:

The WGK recounted the Knights' role in the Serra Pilgrimage of July 24 and 25. Many Knights came early to Lookout Park to prepare the tables, chairs, and sandwiches. About 185 pilgrims ate the hearty sandwiches prepared by Knights that morning, plus fresh fruit, and granola bars

- 3. New and Continuing Business:
  - a. Council 1684, in conjunction with Fr. Dan Lackie, Pastor of the Saint Barbara Parish at the Old Mission Santa Barbara, are helping with two fund raising events at the Mission:
    Drinks at Dusk will be held at 5:30 p.m. on August 12 on the grounds of the Old Mission. WGK Jim Garland committed the Knights to pay for a table at the event. The table is filled.
    BBQ for the Old Mission is scheduled for Friday August 13 on the grounds of the Old Mission from 5:30 to 7:30 p.m. Knights volunteering to cook as well as provide assistance in any way possible will make this a successful fundraiser for the Old Mission.
  - b. A Eucharistic Congress Retreat will be held at Holy Cross Church August 20 and 21.
  - c. A possible home for Council 1684 at the Old Mission Santa Barbara is under discussion.
- 4. Worthy Financial Secretary reported three bills were paid.
- 5. Under Good of the Order:
  - a. Brother Steve Romofsky encouraged fellow Knights to recruit Catholic men as future brother Knights.
  - b. Worthy Grand Knight Jim Garland spoke of some of his struggles and suffering related to his wife's death and the new attachment he has forged with St. Ignatius, St. John of the Cross, and St. Therese, the little flower. All of these have brought him some solace.
  - c. Three more thankyou notes from the clergy were acknowledged: Fr. Steve Doune of Our Lady of Mt. Carmel, Sister María and Fr. Ryan.

After three closing prayers WGK Jim Garland adjourned the meeting at 7:50 p.m. Respectfully submitted, *Al Anglin* Recorder

#### **Editor's Comment**

My apologize to our officers and brother Knights for failing to compose and mail the July-August issue of our Council's bulletin. On the last week of June my ten-year-old Hewlett-Packard desktop computer crashed hardware wise, leaving me in the dilemma of having to replace it with a new machine. Note that if you dislike the term 'machine' feel free to change it with the word 'hardware.' For myself being at the age of 80, buying a new computer has no real pleasure. Even at this age buying a new car no longer has any real pleasure.

I made the decision to replace my old broken-down computer with another desktop machine, this new machine operating with Microsoft's Windows 10. My old computer used

Windows 7, a computer system that I became attached through ten years of its existence. Fortunately, the two hard drives were salvaged. While this new machine offers me faster execution speed, newer software, and more memory storage, it has placed me in the position of having to adapt to a different operating system, extensively different in philosophy than my 2010 machine. And yes, I recently was informed that Microsoft will soon release Windows 11, Windows 10 becoming history.

I'm blessed in one way since Microsoft still supports a software product called *Publisher*. I've found *Publisher* is an excellent product for editing bulletins, such as this bulletin, having used it for more than 10 years, both on K of C bulletins as well as other clubs.

Richard Rink, Fourth Degree

### KNIGHTS PROVIDE BARBEQUE FOR MEMBERS OF THE OLD MISSION SANTA BARBARA

On Friday evening of August 13, brother Knights of Council 1684 provided members of Old Mission Santa Barbara with a thankyou barbeque held within the grounds of the old Mission. In particular, this dinner was for volunteers of the COVID response team at the Old Mission. Council 1684, in conjunction with Fr. Dan Lackie Pastor of Saint Barbara Parish at the Old Mission, helped with two fund raising events at the Mission.







#### **CLERGY APPRECIATION THANK YOU MESSAGES**

#### The following memos come from handwritten notes thanking Council 1684 for the support it has given to priests and nuns here in the Santa Barbara area.

To all the Knights of Council 1684, Very many thanks for your wonderful letter of June 5 and the generous gift of \$25. I am very grateful for your kindness, support and encouragement. I am sorry it took so long to respond but I have been thinking of you very grateful.

Dear Grand Knight and all members of Council 1684: many thanks for your kindness now and always. I will offer Mass for you and your families. With prayers and blessings, Monsignor Downes

Dear Dwight, As the new administrator of St. Marks, I wanted to thank you for your thoughtful and kind gift yet were more for your prayerful support. Indeed, it is together that we serve and work to usher in God's Kingdom. May He strengthen you and all the Knights of Columbus. Please pass along to them my gratitude to them all. United in Christ, Fr. Ryan

Dear Mr. Peterson, Thank you for the gift of \$25 from the K of C Council 1684 and 5300. May God bless your Councils with abundant blessings of health and peace. I'm looking forward to year 2022 with a hope that we can get together again. Gratefully, Sr. Marra

Dear Mr. Peterson and Mr. Charpentier, Thank you for your generous gift, a nice surprise! Please thank all the Knights for their prayers and support. Hopefully, things will continue to improve as the year goes on. Blessings, Fr. Bruce Correio

Dear Knights and Grand Knight Dwight, Thank you so much for the most generous gift. Greatly appreciated. God bless us as we recover/rebuild from Covid. Rev. Msgr. Jon F. Majarucon

Dear Dwight, Many thanks to your kind gift, but especially I grateful for your service as a Knight of Columbus. Please keep me in prayers, Bishop Barron

Dear Hank and all the Knights of Council 1684, We want to thank you all for thinking of us during this time. Yes, we miss your wonderful dinner and time to share with each of you- but this too will change. We are most grateful for your kindness to us, and for your prayers and good wishes. Please know that we keep you in our thoughts and prayers for all the good you do in our Santa Barbara area. May God bless you all. Gratefully yours, Sister Rosalie, Sister Kathleen

Dear Mr. Peterson, Thank you so very much for your gift and your kind words of support. This past year was a challenge for all of us. For us at St. Vincent's, by the grace of God, we were able to continue our ministries, especially with the Homeless. We are united in prayer with the Knights and your families and look forward to the future. Blessings, Sister Arthur Gordon

Dear Mr. Dwight Peterson & Knights of Columbus, My deepest Gratitude to the Knights of Columbus for your thoughtful, generous gift of \$25. Thank you also for all the kindness, time, and love you give to others. My continued prayers and service to the Priests, Sisters, Brothers, and Deacons, and to all the Knights of Columbus, to people in need, in spiritual or/and material want. In Jesus and Mary's name, Sister Linda Mulvehill.

## Planned Parenthood Targets Our Local Catholic Schoolkids

Satan never sleeps: the day after Pentecost Sunday, Planned Parenthood opened a new facility in a heavily Catholic and Hispanic area of Oxnard, in the midst of Catholic parishes and schools.

PP has always targeted minority communities and neighborhoods. Its foundress, Margaret Sanger, was a white supremacist who used a racial slur against Hispanics and said Catholics shouldn't be allowed to "breed," as if we were animals.

An Oxnard-area pro-life leader says the new facility is only one block from St. Anthony Church and Elementary School, two blocks from Santa Clara High, five blocks from E.O. Green Junior High, and six blocks from Hueneme High School. What's more, Mary Star of the Sea Catholic Church is just a few blocks away.

Local pro-lifers immediately called upon parents and other citizens, including the Knights of Columbus, to come pray and picket at the new PP branch, which is not only targeting our Catholic children but also thumbing its nose at our Church.

Pro-lifers brought in nationally known anti-PP leader Jim Sedlak to meet with them and other concerned citizens. At the local Knights hall, he warned his audience about PP's aims and methods. He also taught them proven ways to counter the abortion giant's influence and protect their kids and grandkids from its agenda of sexual immorality and abortions.

Citizens, including Knights, are continuing to pray and picket at the new PP center, which is open three days a week. The public reaction has been positive. "So many nice people out there," says one of the organizers.

"There is something for everyone to do, no matter what," she adds. "Not getting involved is not an option at this point. BE PRAYING Where GOD Wants You in This Fight"!!!

Have you asked the Holy Spirit and His Spouse, our Blessed Mother, to show you what they want you to do to save our children and grandchildren from PP? An extremely effective way is simply to pray with others in front of their centers. PP's internal documents have revealed that anytime prolifers are out front, a whopping 75 percent of the center's clients cancel their abortion appointments!

Why not give it a try? Catholics are praying the Rosary and the Chaplet of Mercy in front of PP of Santa Barbara (518 Garden Street) Monday through Friday from 10:00 a.m. to 11:00 a.m. For details, call or text Gisela Cooper at (805) 886-3732.

--Mike Engler, Pro-Life Chairman

### MILITARY CHAPLAIN'S CAUSE FOR SAINTHOOD ADVANCES

#### FATHER JOSEPH VERBIS LAFLEUR IS ONE OF SEVERAL KNIGHTS ON PATH TO CANONIZATION.

#### **Story by Andrew Fowler**

6/28/2021

The U.S. Conference of Catholic Bishops voted June 17 to advance the cause of canonization for 1st Lt. Father Joseph Verbis Lafleur, a World War II military chaplain, prisoner of war and a Knight of Columbus whose courageous witness in the Pacific theater of the war brought many souls to Christ.

Stationed in the Philippines, Father Lafleur was offered a chance to escape when the Japanese invaded in 1941. When he found out his unit, the 19th Bombardment Group, would not be leaving too, he replied firmly, "Then I shall stay here. My place is with the men."

Father Lafleur would spend more than two years as a prisoner of war; he died in 1944 helping his fellow POWs evacuate a torpedoed Japanese prison boat. For his service throughout the war, he was awarded the Distinguished Service Medal, a Purple Heart and Bronze Star.

#### **COURAGEOUS WITNESS**

Joseph Verbis Lafleur was ordained a priest April 2, 1938, at 26 years old, and in 1941, he answered the call to join the military as a chaplain. While stationed in Albuquerque, N.M., Father Lafleur's commander noticed his exceptional performance. The young chaplain's next posting was to Clark Field, a U.S. Army airfield in the Philippines.

Eight hours after the attack on Pearl Harbor, Dec. 7, 1941, Japanese planes bombed Clark Field, destroying almost every American plane parked wingtip-to-wingtip on the strip. Ninety-three men were killed and 143 wounded.

Father Lafleur ministered to the wounded and dying, exposing himself to bullets and shrapnel to give absolution and help doctors administer medical care. Col. E.L. Eubank of the Army Air Force witnessed Father LaFleur's actions and recommended him to receive the Distinguished Service Cross, the second-highest military honor. The citation reads, "First Lieutenant LaFleur's intrepid actions, personal bravery and zealous devotion to duty exemplify the highest traditions of the military forces of the United States and reflect great credit upon himself, the 5th Air Force and the United States Army Air Forces."

The 19th Bombardment Group was later attacked by Japanese planes while evacuating to another island by ship. Father Lafleur crawled through a hail of bullets to rescue a wounded officer on deck. He was the last man on the boat after assisting with the evacuation of the other soldiers. After U.S. and Philippine forces surrendered to the Japanese following the Battle of Bataan, Father Lafleur and the rest of the 19th Bombardment Group were captured. The military chaplain spent the rest of his life as a POW.

#### A SAINT IN PRISON

Father Lafleur bounced from prison camp to prison camp until arriving at the Davao Penal Colony in October 1942, where he worked beside his fellow POWs in the rice fields and helped them in any way he could. He sneaked into the compound hospital to tend to sick prisoners. He shared his food with the sick and wounded, and even traded his watch and eyeglasses for food and medicine. He refused medicine for himself, even during bouts with malaria, saying someone else needed it more.

Even more important, Father Lafleur continued to be a spiritual leader. He personally constructed a chapel out of bamboo and wood named The Chapel of St. Peter in Chains and celebrated Mass each morning before the men headed out to work. One soldier recalled that Father Lafleur conserved the wine for consecration by using a medicine dropper

Father Lafleur's witness had a tremendous impact: Nearly 200 American prisoners converted to Catholicism because of his influence.

(Continued on Page 8)

Bill Lowe was one of the men who converted. His interest in Catholicism began after Father Lafleur helped evacuate others into lifeboats before the American-Philippine surrender. He saw in the military chaplain "something that I wished I had," adding that "his demeanor was so convincing that this led me to pursue to become a Catholic." If there ever was a saint, Father Lafleur was one," Lowe would later write.

#### **'I WILL BE WITH YOU'**

Father Lafleur's sense of duty led him to volunteer to take the place of a POW bound for a Japanese airstrip in Lasang, Philippines. He did this despite being physically weak due to lack of food.

Before he left for Lasang in March 1944, Father Lafleur wrote a final message to his family on the label of a can of milk. It read in part, "I do not have to go, but if I didn't and something would happen, I would never go back to the States as I could never face any of you again. I would feel as though I had not done my duty."

While at Lasang, Father Lafleur continued to inspire the prisoners with his acts of courage. In one instance, Japanese guards with bayonets surrounded Father Lafleur and other POWs during his daily rosary service. A guard kept the bayonet at the military chaplain's stomach. Father Lafleur didn't move except to make the sign of the cross. Eventually, tensions subsided and the guards left.

As American forces advanced, the Japanese decided to move the prisoners to mainland Japan. Father Lafleur and hundreds of POWs were loaded into a ship — the *Shinyo Maru* — which had no white flag to denote it was carrying prisoners.

Without that signal, it became a target for Allied forces. On Sept. 7, 1944, the *Shinyo Maru* was torpedoed by the USS *Paddle*. During the attack, Father Lafleur led his fellow prisoners in the ship's hold in praying the rosary.

Suddenly, the hatch was opened. Father Lafleur began evacuating the prisoners as the Japanese threw grenades into the hold. Other prisoners were shot on deck as they tried to dive into the water. Only 82 prisoners out of hundreds survived.

Father Lafleur was not one of them. He was last seen standing near the ladder trying to help others escape.

As he wrote in his final message, "If I am not [here], I will be with you anyway and I will have a reserve seat up in Heaven. I am sure Our Lord will let me roll back just one little cloud so I can look down. And from up there I will have a more beautiful view and a more perfect understanding of what is going on."

Father Lafleur, a member of Council 2281 in Abbeville, La., is one of many Knights who are either canonized or on the path to sainthood.

#### COPYRIGHT 2021, KNIGHTS OF COLUMBUS. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

#### WANT TO RECEIVE THE BULLETIN BY E-MAIL?

Because your editor lost the names and e-mail addresses of members receiving the bulletin by email, ihis computer crashing, if you want to continue this service by e-mail, I ask that you send your editor Richard Rink and e-mail. In your e-mail, add the following information:

> Name First and Last Your e-mail Address Phone Number

My email address is RICHRINK@COX.NET

## **Colorado Knights Provide Clean Water in Africa**

#### A fundraising project is helping to improve sanitary conditions in the capital city of the Democratic Republic of Congo

The 800 parishioners of St. Leo the Great in Kinshasa, the capital city of the Democratic Republic of Congo, now have access to clean water and latrines thanks to the charitable efforts of a Knights of Columbus council halfway across the world.

The "Building a Wellspring of Hope" project began after Father Henri Tshibambe — pastor at Our Lady of Fatima Catholic Church in Lakewood, Colo. — approached the Knights at his parish for assistance. The priest had recently reconnected with a friend from seminary, Father D'jim Lumu Mutombo, pastor at St. Leo the Great. During their conversation, Father D'jim described the unsanitary conditions of the parish and how he was ill-equipped to raise the necessary funds to provide clean water.

"When Father Henri approached me and said there was a parish in the Congo with no water and no latrine facilities. I was struck immediately with how much we take our amenities for granted," said John Pickard, grand knight of Our Lady of Fatima Council 9597. "He asked for \$5,000 and I thought, sure, no problem — we could help raise that."

Coincidentally, Richard Phillips, a member of the council, had prior experience with international engineering thanks to his work while as a project manager at New Mexico State University (NMSU). Phillips was selected to lead the initiative. He went to work, recruiting colleagues from NMSU and Congolese architect, Alex Mulemangabo, to help with the project. However, it soon dawned on the team that the task would be a larger undertaking than initially anticipated.

"It was clear that \$5,000 was not going to be enough to provide them with assistance for both the well and latrines," Phillips said. "It's in a poor neighborhood. It's land that's been poorly taken care of, through erosion and other things, and so, there was no money there to do this project."

The estimated cost for a well with a hand pump and latrines was \$15,000, but the team wanted to also provide St. Leo the Great with a solar power system and a new gravity feed water pressure system to improve the sustainability of the parish's sanitary conditions. The latter system would consist of an elevated water storage tank to push water through the pipes to the faucets. In total, the project would cost \$20,000. To raise the necessary funds, the council established a GoFundMe webpage and led an awareness campaign at Our Lady of Fatima Church. After only 18 days, the donation total exceeded \$25,000.

"It's been really nice to see the response among the Knights and the parishioners," Phillips said. "It's a good example of how we're all connected and all God's people. It's exactly what Pope Francis is trying to teach us — that we're all brothers and sisters. It's been a rewarding project that I'm glad to be part of it."

By late April 2021, Mulemangabo, with assistance from local contractors, began drilling the well and constructing the latrines that are now flowing and operational. A few weeks later, the solar system was installed. Father D'jim expressed that the people of St. Leo the Great Parish will "never cease to thank you for the glory of God on every-thing you do" in a message to the council.

"It is true happiness to be able to serve their needs, to bring some comfort to their lives," Pickard said. "I love Mother Teresa's quote: 'Faith in action is service, service in action is love.' It is a true gift from God that we are able to share some love from so far away."

#### COPYRIGHT 2021, KNIGHTS OF COLUMBUS. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

Knights of Columbus Council 1684 c/o Steven Romofsky 2428 Calle Andalucia Santa Barbara, CA 93109-1124

# **Knights of Columbus - Council 1684**

Officers:

Jim Garland	805-452-9703
Steven Romofsky	805-962-4861
Dr. Jacques Benoit	805-896-4489
Brian Simolon	805-967-7830
Thomas Anglin	805-563-0127
Bruce García	805-964-8321
Richard Rink	805-687-0514
Chris Fernandes	561-385-1371
Brian Regan	805-684-2003
Mitchell Molitor	805-965-8244
Trustees:	
Raymond Charpentier	805-845-1978
Deacon Nick Curran	805-967-8867
Hank Peterson	805-560-6799
Richard Rink	805-687-0514
	Steven Romofsky Dr. Jacques Benoit Brian Simolon Thomas Anglin Bruce García Richard Rink Chris Fernandes Brian Regan Mitchell Molitor Raymond Charpentier Deacon Nick Curran Hank Peterson